# SENATORS CROSS COUNTRY, TRACK & FIELD BOOSTER CLUBBYLAWS

## **ARTICLE I - NAME**

The organization shall be titled Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club.

## **ARTICLE II - PURPOSE**

The organization is a volunteer association organized to function independently of, but in cooperation with, Sparkman High Schools' administration, Athletic Director, Cross Country and Track & Field Head Coach and other school authorities, for the purpose of promoting, supporting and disbursing funds to the Cross Country and Track & Field program at Sparkman High School.

## **ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP AND DUES**

- Section 1. General membership shall be open to all friends of Sparkman High School, including coaches, students and parents/guardians of students engaged in the Cross Country and Track & Field program at Sparkman High School.
- Section 2. Voting membership shall include only parents/guardians of Cross Country and Track & Field student athletes of Sparkman High School who are in good standing.
- Section 3. There are no annual dues assessed for membership in the booster club. Dues are included in player fees.

## **ARTICLE IV - MEETINGS**

- Section 1. Meetings will be held on an as needed basis during the school year. This will generally include three (3) general membership meetings to discuss the upcoming seasons. The President in consultation with the coaching staff, will schedule such meetings. Reasonable effort will be made to publicize the date, time and location of all meetings.
- Section 2: Special meetings of the Booster Club may be called at the discretion of the President/Officers.
- Section 3. The meeting place of the booster club will be an appropriate location on the high school campus, large enough to accommodate the attendees.
- Section 4. Regular and special meetings are open to all members of the association.

## **ARTICLE V - OFFICERS**

- Section 1. The Booster Club Officers shall be the governing body of the Booster Club consisting of the President, Vice President of Cross Country, Vice President of Track & Field, Secretary and Treasurer. The Head Coach will be part of the governing body.
- Section 2. In April, the President, in consultation with the Head Coach, will prepare a slate of candidates to be presented at the final membership meeting of the school year. The slate of candidates for Office will be presented as a whole to the general membership. Officers shall be elected by a vote of the majority of the Booster Club. No two persons associated with the same athlete may serve as an Officer at the same time.
- Section 3. The normal term of office shall be one (1) year or until their successors are elected and qualified. The one (1) year term shall commence upon their election.
- Section 4. Should a vacancy occur in the President's office, then the Vice-President of XC or T&F (whichever season is current) may serve the remainder of the term, if he/she is willing. Either Vice-President may serve if the other is unwilling. Should a vacancy occur in the remaining offices, then the President is empowered to appoint a replacement for the remainder of the term of office with the approval of the remainder of the Officers.

## **ARTICLE VI – DUTIES OF THE PRESIDENT**

- Section 1. The President shall be the chief executive officer and the head of the Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club. The President shall execute the will of the association and the officers and enforce the By-Laws.
- Section 2. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club.
- Section 3. The President shall be responsible for general supervision of the affairs of the Booster Club.
- Section 4: The President shall have the power to make emergency decisions not specifically covered in the Bylaws and to appoint any committee/chairperson deemed necessary to conduct the affairs of the Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club.

## ARTICLE VII – DUTIES OF THE VICE PRESIDENT OF CROSS COUNTRY

- Section 1. The Vice President of Cross Country (VP XC) shall oversee the activities of the SHS Cross Country team in support of the Cross Country season. The VP XC shall assist the Cross Country coaching staff to ensure information is disseminated to the XC team regarding meets, etc. and will provide support to the coaching staff throughout the season as requested.
- Section 2: The VP XC is responsible for coordinating the Cross Country end of season awards banquet.
- Section 3: The VP XC shall assume the duties of the President during the Cross Country season in the case of absence or disability of the President; or the VP XC may delegate some responsibilities to other Booster Club Officers if unable to fulfill all responsibilities.

# ARTICLE VIII – DUTIES OF THE VICE PRESIDENT OF TRACK AND FIELD

- Section 1. The Vice President of Track & Field (VP T&F) shall oversee the activities of the SHS Track & Field team in support of the Indoor Track season and the Outdoor Track & Field season. The VP T&F shall assist the Track & Field coaching staff to ensure information is disseminated to the T&F team regarding meets, etc. and will provide support to the coaching staff throughout the seasons as requested.
- Section 2: The VP T&F is responsible for coordinating the Indoor Track and Outdoor Track & Field end of season awards banquets.
- Section 3: The VP T&F shall assume the duties of the President during the Indoor Track and Track & Field season in the case of absence or disability of the President; or the VP T&F may delegate some responsibilities to other Booster Club Officers if unable to fulfill all responsibilities.

## **ARTICLE IX – DUTIES OF THE TREASURER**

- Section 1. The Treasurer shall oversee the collection and distribution of all funds and securities of the Booster Club. The Treasurer shall insure that the money handling guidelines mandated by the Madison County Board of Education and Sparkman High School will be followed.
- Section 2: The Treasurer shall balance and maintain financial statements for all Booster Club activities; report profit and loss on fundraising activities.
- Section 3: The Treasurer will prepare a detailed financial report and make a report of the financial status of the Club at each meeting.

- Section 4: The Treasurer will be responsible for developing a budget for the Club including, but not limited to next year budget goals and expenditures.
- Section 5: The Treasurer will make copies of the financial report available to any current member upon request.

## **ARTICLE X – DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY**

- Section 1. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the association and keep an accurate record of these meetings. This record shall be and remain the property of the Booster Club.
- Section 2: The Secretary shall keep a roll of the membership, conduct all correspondence, give all notices as required by the By-Laws or the Officers and perform other duties as directed by the President.
- Section 3: The Secretary will present the minutes of the previous meeting at the current meeting for acceptance.

## ARTICLE XI – REMOVAL OF OFFICERS

- Section 1. An Officer who is consistently absent from Booster Club Officer Meetings, general membership meetings and other events where the Officers are required, shall re-evaluate their ability to support the association. The Head Coach and/or the President in consultation shall request the Officer's resignation.
- Section 2: If an Officer is not performing their assigned duties, the Head Coach and/or the President in consultation shall request the Officer's resignation.
- Section 3: An Officer who is not working to promote the program as outlined by the Cross Country, Track & Field Head Coach shall re-evaluate their ability to support the association. The Head Coach and/or the President in consultation shall request the Officer's resignation.

## **ARTICLE XII - COMMITTEES**

- Section 1. Standing committees shall be:
  - 1. Sparkman High School Track & Field Day Invitational Committee: to establish and maintain the operations, supplies and manpower at the Sparkman High School Track & Field Day Invitational. Oversee Elementary School invitations, order T-shirts, establish concessions, establish manpower for ticket booths.
  - 2. Athletic Banquet committee: to plan and coordinate the athletic banquets that are held yearly for Cross Country Team and the Track & Field Team.
- Section 2. Committee chairpersons shall be appointed as deemed necessary by the Officers to

properly execute all programs and activities.

- Section 3. Committee memberships shall be appointed by the committee chairperson and serve (1) year.
- Section 4. Committee activities shall only be undertaken with the approval of the majority of the quorum of the Booster Club Officers.

# **ARTICLE XIII - FINANCE**

- Section 1. All financial aspects of the Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club shall be in accordance with the guidelines set by the Madison County Board of Education for booster clubs (non-public funds). Funds for Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club shall be derived through means agreed upon by the Officers, then approved by the SHS Principal, when appropriate.
- Section 2. All monies shall be kept in the Sparkman High School Senators Cross Country, Track & Field Booster Club account.
- Section 3. Remaining funds at the end of the year shall remain in the club account to be used for yearly expenses and long range goals.
- Section 4. All expenditures will be disbursed as necessary with the approval of the Officers. A Disbursement of Funds Request, filed on the proper requisition/purchase order forms as mandated by the Madison County Board of Education, will require signatures from two (2) Officers. An invoice submitted for payment of goods received shall require only one (1) signature from an Officer.
- Section 5. Four (4) fundraisers per fiscal year (October 1 through September 30) are allowed through the provisions established by the Madison County Board of Education for booster clubs. Concession monies are not considered fundraisers.
- Section 6. No Officer or Member shall receive, directly or indirectly, compensation from the Boosters.

## **ARTICLE XIV - AMMENDMENTS**

These Bylaws may be amended at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Officers.

Initial approval: July 2017

Note: These Bylaws were approved for use by the subject organization by Mr. Chris Shaw (Principal) and Mr. Jason Watts (Assistant Principal).